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LOCATION OF LANDSCAPE COMPONENTS 

 

ILLUS 1:  Camelon Cemetery as shown on the 2nd edition Ordnance Survey 25-inch map (Stirlingshire 

XXX.3), with components identified marked in blue (map reproduced from http://www.maps.nls.uk).  

This is the cemetery as it appeared in its original state from the opening in 1870 until the first of many 

expansions in 1898.  
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C North/South avenue 
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E Glass houses 

F Lodge house 
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1.0 Introduction to Glorious Gardens 

 

Glorious Gardens is a two-year pilot project to research and record historic gardens and designed 

landscapes in two areas of Scotland.  The project focuses on properties which are not listed in the Historic 

Scotland Inventory of Gardens and Designed Landscapes, but which still retain evidence for their 

development and have some conservation value.  One strand of the pilot project, funded by Historic 

Environment Scotland and the Heritage Lottery Fund, focuses on gardens and designed landscapes (GDLs) 

in the Clyde & Avon Valley Landscape Partnership (CAVLP) area while a separate strand, funded by 

Historic Environment Scotland, studies properties in the Falkirk local authority area.  Glorious Gardens 

was initiated and is managed by Scotland's Garden and Landscape Heritage, who contracted Northlight 

Heritage to recruit, train and support groups of volunteers to conduct the research and produce reports 

on properties in each area during 2015-2017. 

2.0 Introduction to Falkirk (Camelon) Cemetery 

Camelon Cemetery lies approximately 2 miles northwest of the town of Falkirk, in the county of 

Stirlingshire, and to the north of the parish of Camelon which gave the cemetery its name.    

It has been the main cemetery for Falkirk for almost 150 years.  Until 1870 the townsfolk were 

buried in a number of churchyards.  These graveyards had become overcrowded and unhygienic, 

putting at risk the health of the living.  A movement for rural burial grounds away from centres of 

population had begun early in the century, and private companies had already established such 

cemeteries in Glasgow and Edinburgh.  ¢ƘŜǎŜ ŎŜƳŜǘŜǊƛŜǎ ōŜŎŀƳŜ ƪƴƻǿƴ ŀǎ ΨDŀǊŘŜƴ /ŜƳŜǘŜǊƛŜǎΩ 

where landscaping was a notable feature.  The cemetery in Falkirk, however, was not established by 

a private company but by a forward thinking local council. 

In 1868 the Parish Board of Falkirk Council bought 22 acres of land at Dorratur from the Earl of 

Zetland and in 1869 work began on the development of a cemetery for the people of Falkirk.  The 

site, at that time, lay on open ground north of Camelon and to the northwest of Falkirk town:  the 

land rose gently from south to north.  It was deemed suitable as there were no houses in the vicinity 

and the ground was sandy and dry. The LNER Stirlingshire Midland Junction railway line lay to the 

south and the River Carron to the north.  

The cemetery was laid out with asymmetrical curving paths making provision for well separated 

individual lairs adorned with shrubs and trees.  The landscape borrowed from the prevailing 

Victorian style for public parks and private gardens. 

The cemetery proved popular with local people and was always favoured as a place to walk as well 

as remember the dead.  Periodically, extra acres of adjoining land were bought to ensure there was 

sufficient room for the required number of burials.  Two additions, in 1898 and 1928, were styled 

very like the original cemetery, and lying within external stone walls make a unified landscape. An 

additional plot was added in 1962 when the crematorium was opened on the northern eastern edge 

of the cemetery.  Early in the twenty-first century a field lying south-east of the crematorium, on the 

site of a former sand pit, was added.  It is more utilitarian with close rows of lairs set in grass with 

minimal planting. 

The local authority has remained the owner and custodian of the cemetery, with responsibility to 

keep the cemetery well managed and maintained.  The site is not included on the inventory of 

gardens and landscapes, and there are no listed structures.  
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Name Designation Grade ID  Web link 

20th c. War 
Memorial 

  ID 339068 canmore.org.uk/site/339068 
 

Crematorium   ID 261905 canmore.org.uk/site/261905 

 

3.0 Methods 

The study followed the project methodology, as detailed in the Glorious Gardens Method 
Statement (see project archive in the National Record of the Historic Environment 
maintained by HES).  
 
It involved the consultation of key historic maps, aerial photographs, local and national 
archives, and databases of heritage assets and statutory designations.  
  
The desk-based research was followed by systematic walkover survey to identify and record 
surviving components and key elements of the historic designed landscape.  Initially, the 
survey employed a recording system designed specifically for the project that combined 
written field notes, tablet-based data capture and photography.  In the extension to the 
project data capture on the tablet was not used having been found to be overly 
complicated. All data gathered during the project are available for consultation as part of 
the Glorious Gardens archive, held at the National Record of the Historic Environment 
maintained by HES. The sources consulted are listed in section 8. 
 
The information gathered has been synthesised to establish a baseline understanding of the 
development of the designed landscape and its current state, including its overall structure, 
surviving components and conservation opportunities. 
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4.0 Desk-based Research 
4.1 Historic maps 

Camelon Cemetery appears on maps from the late 19th century onwards.  This section summarises the 

changes to the designed landscape which are captured on each of the more informative historic maps.  

Section 6 draws out further evidence from the maps as it relates to specific components of the landscape. 

 

Illus: 2 

Cartographer: Ordnance Survey 

Title: Stirlingshire (Falkirk) 25 inch, 2nd edition 

Sheet: XXX.3 

Date: Revised 1896, published 1898 

  

Camelon Cemetery opened in 1870 but did not appear on any Ordnance Survey maps until 1898.  It 

covered 11 acres of ground and was laid out in the garden cemetery style with curvilinear paths, trees 

and flower beds.   

There are two entrances, one to the southwest and one to the southeast of the cemetery:  the latter 

connects with the road which runs south/southwest, under the railway bridge, to Camelon.   

A lodge house, built for the superintendent of the cemetery, lies a short distance north of the 

entrance.  Immediately adjacent to the east side of the house is a collection of greenhouses.   

To the east of the cemetery lies the site of the Sunnyside Iron Works and there is a small sandpit to the 

northeast. 

To the north there are fields beyond which is the River Carron and to the west is a ridge running 

north/south, below which is rough ground. The eastern boundary is marked by a road.  
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Illus: 3 

Cartographer: Ordnance Survey 

Title: Stirlingshire (Falkirk; Larbert) 25 inch (2nd and later editions) 

Sheet: nXXX.2 

Date: Levelled 1911, revised 1913, published 1917  

 

 

The OS map of 1917 shows the extent to which the cemetery has expanded to the northwest onto 

ground which had been fields:  this area is bounded by a ridge to the west.  Its design follows the 

original concept of curvilinear paths.  The newly designated burial ground has three paths in the 

northeast which end abruptly in a field:  this suggests that there was an intention to expand the 

cemetery further. 

The following changes have been made within the cemetery since the publication of the OS map of 

1898:  the path leading from the entrance in the southwest appears to have gone; a fountain has been 

installed across the road from the lodge house; three additional glasshouses have been constructed 

next to the lodge and there is a building on the site of the old sandpit. 

Beyond the cemetery the following changes have occurred: to the east the Iron Works has expanded; 

there is now housing to the south of the NBR Stirlingshire Midland railway line and there is now a 

sandpit across the road to the east of the cemetery. 
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Illus: 4 

Cartographer: Ordnance Survey 

Title: Stirlingshire (Falkirk; Larbert) 25 inch (2nd and later editions) 

Sheet: nXXX.2 

Date: Surveyed 1858-60, relevelled 1911, revised 1944, published 1947 

 

By the 1940s there has been a further extension of the cemetery northwards onto farmland, again the 

design following the curvilinear layout of the original grounds.  It is constrained in the east by the road 

and in the west by a ridge.  Two of the paths from the second phase of development have been 

extended seamlessly into the newly designated area. 

The path leading from the southwest entrance appears to have been reinstated and there is a new 

entrance leading from the newly designated area onto the road to the east.  There is yet another 

glasshouse adjacent to the lodge and two buildings occupy the site of the old sand pit. 

The sandpit to the east has been significantly enlarged and there is now a road to the south heading in 

a north-easterly direction.  
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Illus: 5 

Cartographer: Ordnance Survey 

Title: Plan NS8780NW - A (includes:  Falkirk), 1:1250 

Date: Revised 1950, published 1951 

 

Although the OS plan drawn up in 1950/51 show no change to the site, it shows the layout of the 

cemetery in more detail.  The access from the south is along Dorrator Road.  
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Illus: 6 

Cartographer: Ordnance Survey 

Title: 1.  Plan NS8781SW ς C (includes:  Falkirk; Larbert), 1:1250 

2.  Plan NS8780NW ς B (includes Falkirk), 1:1250 

Date: 1.  Revised 1966, published 1967 

2.  Revised 1960, published 1961 

   Illus: 6.1 

 

   Illus: 6.2 
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By the time of the publication of the OS plans in the 1960s the site of the cemetery has expanded yet 

again as far as the River Carron in the north.   This area can be accessed by a footpath in the northwest 

and another in the southeast.  Vehicular access is to the southwest.   

This burial ground is encircled by a road beyond which are trees.  A wall running approximately 

east/west, perhaps the original boundary wall, separates the latest area of burial ground from the old. 

To the northeast of this area is the site of the new crematorium, erected in 1962.  Access to the 

crematorium is by a main drive running along the eastern boundary of the cemetery. 

The plans show the extent of the tree planting in the cemetery.  Paths seem to have disappeared from 

the two areas on the south side of the cemetery:  the oldest lairs can be found here. 

 

The OS plans from the 1960s are the most recent and do not show the extension of the cemetery south 

ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎǊŜƳŀǘƻǊƛǳƳΣ ǿƛǘƘ ƭŀƛǊǎ ŘŀǘƛƴƎ ŦǊƻƳ нллнκлоΦ  ¢Ƙƛǎ Ŏŀƴ ōŜ ǎŜŜƴ ŀǎ ½ƻƴŜ нм ƻƴ CŀƭƪƛǊƪ /ƻǳƴŎƛƭΩǎ 

current illustrative plan of the cemetery (see below). 

 

 
 

Illus. 7:  Falkirk CƻǳƴŎƛƭΩǎ ŎǳǊǊŜƴǘ Ǉƭŀƴ         
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4.2   Aerial Photographs 

 

 

Illus. 8:  OS Air Photo Mosaics NS 88 SE (Stirlingshire), 1944-50 

The aerial photograph closely corresponds to the plan published in 1951 (see Illustration 5 above) 

showing the first three phases of development. 

(http://maps.nls.uk/view/75221382) 
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Illus. 9:   General oblique aerial view of Camelon Cemetery and Crematorium, taken from the north 
 

There are no OS maps showing the current site:  this aerial photograph clearly shows the crematorium 
with garden ground in the foreground and the more recent extension of the cemetery, above left, which 
postdates the 1967 OS plan.  The density of vegetation is much greater in the older, more established 
part of the cemetery and the areas dating from the mid 20th century onwards have lairs in serried ranks.  
The cemetery and crematorium site is enclosed by a belt of trees. 
 
Towards the top left of the photograph are pavilions for playing fields which are located on the site of the 
old Sunnyside Iron Works.  The River Carron, horseshoe shaped, can be seen bottom right. 
 
(Canmore DP 114669, 2012) 
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5.0   Timeline for the Development of Camelon Cemetery Designed Landscape 

Date / Period Event / Phase of Development 

Pre 1868 5.1 Background to the establishment of Camelon Cemetery 

 

There was considerable concern about the state of churchyards in the first half 

of the 19th century, beginning in the larger cities where, because of 

industrialisation, many people had moved from their rural homes.  The 

significant increase in urban populations added pressure on already 

overcrowded burial grounds, leading to unhygienic conditions.  

  

There was mounting distaste for the common practise of moving bones to allow 

for further burials. In addition, the prevalence of body snatching put people in 

real fear that the bodies of their departed would be stolen. People began to 

demand that their deceased could lie undisturbed, in perpetuity, in lairs that 

belonged to them. Also, in the early 19th century dissenters in England and 

Scotland began to create secular burial grounds, not associated with churches.  

 

In the 1820s and 1830s private companies saw an opportunity to make a profit 

by buying land on the outskirts of towns and cities and selling plots to people 

with means.  

 

John Claudius Loudon, a prolific horticultural writer and activist, published a 

manual for creating new cemeteries.  IŜ ǎǘŀǘŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ άŎƘǳǊŎƘȅŀǊŘǎ ŀƴŘ 

cemeteries are scenes not only calculated to improve the morals and the taste 

and by their botanical riches to cultivate the intellect, but they serve as 

historical recordsέ. (Loudon 1843)  In 1830, he had written an article stating 

that cemeteries could be made into Botanical Gardens at no extra cost, but in 

his book a decade later he advised against flowers, to prevent cemeteries 

resembling pleasure grounds.  He recommended double rows for burials with 

soil between the rows to allow for monuments. He set out detailed 

specifications for all aspects of the site, including, the layout, drainage and 

planting.  He advised planting pines, firs, cypresses, yews, and junipers, trees 

which allowed in the sun.  tŀǘƘǎ ǎƘƻǳƭŘ ōŜ оΩ ǿƛŘŜ ǘƻ ŜƴŀōƭŜ ǘƘŜ ǎƳƻƻǘƘ 

passage of the coffin.  (Loudon 1843)  
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Illus. 10:  [ƻǳŘƻƴΩǎ Ǉƭŀƴ ƻŦ ŀƴ ƛŘŜŀƭ ŎŜƳŜǘŜǊȅ on hilly ground (Loudon 1843) 

 

Private cemeteries were opened in England in the early 19th century on a 

commercial basis, mainly catering for the wealthy. In Scotland, the earliest and 

most notable private cemetery was the Necropolis in Glasgow, opened in 1833. 

Stewart Murray, the first curator of Glasgow Botanic Gardens was consulted 

over the landscape and the planting of the Necropolis, showing the value placed 

on horticulture expertise.  Loudon visited the Necropolis in 1832, shortly before 

it opened.  A few more private cemeteries, for those who could afford to 

purchase a plot, opened in the 1830s and 1840s.  These included three in the 

west of Scotland also designed by Stewart Murray.  The superintendent of one 

of them, the Greenock cemetery, was Peter Clark, who succeeded Stewart 

Murray, as the second curator at the Glasgow Botanic Gardens.  (Curtis 2006) 

 

1868 - 1889 5.2 The establishment of Camelon Cemetery 

 

In Falkirk awareness of the foul state of their graveyards was increasing during 

the mid 19th century.  A report written in 1859 drew attention to the 

unacceptable state of their burial grounds:  

 

άA filthy and offensive ditch separates the burial ground from the houses and 

the moisture which exudes from the crowded and elevated burial ground is 

most unwholesome to those living in these houses, shops or workrooms on the 

IƛƎƘ {ǘǊŜŜǘΦέ όQuoted by Scott, I. Falkirk Herald, 1st May 2015) 


